Mental Wellbeing in Anthropology and at Universities: A Call for System Transformation

The Anthropology of Mental Health Interest Group affirms that the state of mental health in the field of Anthropology needs serious attention and transformation. We respond to structural inequities in academia that exacerbate mental distress among graduate students and other anthropologists who experience oppression, by putting forward a policy statement with recommendations to create more equitable learning and working environments.

Authors

Emma Louise Backe, Tory Brykalski, Erica Hua Fletcher, Alex Fitzpatrick, Melinda González, Shir Lerman, Beatriz Reyes-Foster, Rob Meeker, Rachel P. Riendeau, and Meagan Thies-Sauder.

Table of Contents

Executive Summary
About Us4
Policy Statement Origins4
Introduction5
Objectives5
Defining Mental Health5
The State of Mental Health in Anthropology6
Visions for Cultures of Wellness9
AMHIG Calls on Universities
AMHIG Calls on Departments of Anthropology11
AMHIG Calls on SMA Members11
Contact Information
References14-20

Executive Summary

This policy statement calls for systematic transformation to improve mental health among graduate student anthropologists and other anthropologists who are deeply affected by institutional power and policies. This document aims to:

- 1) Provide an anthropologically-informed definition of "mental health"
- 2) Describe the state of mental health in anthropology and indicate factors that contribute to poor mental health and disproportionately impact graduate students and other marginalized anthropologists in anthropology departments and on campus, such as labor issues, traumatic experiences during fieldwork, cultures of silence and stigma, and structural elitism within the profession
- 3) Outline our vision for collective mental wellbeing in graduate education, anthropology departments, and higher education; and
- 4) Challenge anthropologists in positions of power to make substantive changes to promote mental wellbeing.

Relevance

Its intended audience is members of anthropology departments, who seek to use this document as a reference point when advocating for changes to departmental policies, as well as changes in upper administration's recruitment and retention of anthropologists to their respective universities. This document may also be of use among general academic audiences invested in improving university administration and the health and wellbeing of their community members.

Key Findings

- The mental wellbeing of graduate students and other structurally-vulnerable anthropologists is a collective issue that is deeply affected by political and economic concerns and worsened by the neoliberalization of universities.
- The implementation of Universal Design policies can enable Disabled/Mad Anthropologists and anthropologists with mental illness to excel as workers and community members in universities.

Key Recommendations

- Universities must address structural inequities in the financial compensation of their leadership and create plans to address significant income gaps between teaching faculty graduate instructors, adjuncts, non-tenure track professors, etc. and upper-level administrators, senior faculty, senior staff, and athletics departments.
- Upper-level administrators and department chairs must advocate for Universal Design in worker recruitment and outreach, labor practices, leave policies, and course development.
- Anthropology departments must create cultures of wellness that respond quickly to issues of discrimination and harassment and create programming that will prepare graduate students for the possible mental health and safety consequences of field research.
- SMA members must promote Universal Design principles in our daily praxis including our research, pedagogy, service responsibilities, mentorship, advising, and activism.

About Us

The Anthropology and Mental Health Interest Group (AMHIG) is a Society of Medical Anthropology Special Interest Group (SIG) founded to provide a forum for anthropologists, scholars from other disciplines, and practitioners whose work focuses on the socio-cultural dimensions of mental health. In particular, AMHIG offers an organizational structure for scholars and practitioners engaged in this topic area to network, share resources, and develop new ideas. AMHIG's mission is to facilitate and promote anthropological teaching and scholarship pertaining to mental health and establish linkages with other professional associations concerned with the socio-cultural dimensions of mental health, in order to facilitate multi-disciplinary dialogue and collaboration, provide opportunities for discussion and collaboration between researchers and mental health practitioners, and to promote discussion of ethical considerations particular to working with those experiencing mental health problems.

Policy Statement Origins

In recent years, AMHIG has also taken an interest in considering the mental health effects of ethnographic fieldwork on anthropologists and, relatedly, the ways in which academic culture appears to be conducive to poor mental health (See Barriers to Access to Care and Wellness section below). These concerns most recently inspired a curated blog post series in the anthropology blog *Anthrodendum* and led to conversations and engagement at the American Anthropological Association Annual Meetings that inspired this document. This Policy Statement is the product of collaboration, driven specifically by concerns from our membership over serious structural constraints in the field of anthropology and academia in general that negatively impact the mental health of all anthropologists, and graduate student anthropologists in particular. The ad-hoc committee that volunteered to create this document is composed in its majority of current graduate students. Given that graduate students are deeply impacted by university and departmental policies and work cultures, we believe the mental health needs of graduate student anthropologists are indicative of what needs to be resisted and transformed in academic life.

The Anthropology of Mental Health Interest Group is uniquely poised to contribute this document for consideration by the Society for Medical Anthropology. In what follows, we first describe the contours of poor mental health among graduate students and other university-affiliated anthropologists in relation to neoliberal forces affecting professional life in academia. We indicate the need for anthropologists to address this crisis and demand significant changes within our departments and institutions, then describe this policy brief's intended audience and its aims.

Introduction

Anthropologists' mental health is deeply connected to the political economies of higher education, and the neoliberalization of US academic institutions appears to be inherently incompatible with wellness. Graduate students often face a scarcity of funding opportunities and increasingly face additional teaching and research assistant responsibilities. Likewise, their faculty mentors also have less time to advise and mentor graduate students, due to similar economic pressures and labor demands. Not only is job security increasingly scarce, but in recent years tenure requirements have become increasingly onerous. Many universities' funding models exert constant pressure on faculty to secure external funding, at times appearing to only value faculty based on their ability to obtain large grants. Running the university as an "academic enterprise" has resulted in a steady decrease in available permanent academic employment for anthropology Ph.D. graduates at the same time that more anthropology Ph.D. programs are being created. Although some anthropology programs have implemented initiatives to guide their students towards non-academic career tracks, the vast majority continue to prepare their students for academic jobs that may not exist. This uncertainty, compounded with flat wages for graduate assistantships and fellowships and rising student debt, also creates significant stressors that negatively impact graduate student mental health and create poor working environments within departments, more broadly.

Creating structural supports for mental wellbeing in higher education is a matter of equity and inclusion; and given recent mixed responses among U.S. universities to the COVID-19 pandemic, police brutality, and the Movement for Black Lives, the need to address the social and material drivers of poor mental health is increasingly apparent. Unfortunately, a common practice in many departments has been to view mental health separately from academic endeavors, failing to directly address the fact that the embodied experience of professional life in anthropology departments and in fieldwork carries implications for mental health, including the potential for trauma. Now is the time for anthropologists to come together to address the poor state of mental health in their departments and in universities.

Objectives

This policy statement is intended for members of anthropology departments, who seek to use this document to learn more about the state of poor mental health among their colleagues, particularly among graduate student anthropologists. Anthropologists may also use it as a reference point when advocating for changes to departmental policies, as well as changes in upper administration's recruitment and retention of anthropologists to their respective universities. This document may also be of use among general academic audiences invested in improving university administration and the health and wellbeing of their community members.

It aims to

- 1. Provide an anthropologically-informed definition of "mental health"
- 2. Address the mental health needs of structurally vulnerable anthropologists by describing structural barriers to mental health care and mental wellbeing
- 3. Outline our vision for collective mental wellbeing in graduate education, anthropology departments, and higher education; and
- 4. Challenge anthropologists to make substantive changes to promote mental wellbeing.

Defining Mental Health

AMHIG defines mental health as a state of flourishing within supportive communities and ecologies. We affirm that mental health is a collective process, inseparable from physical, spiritual, and emotional wellbeing and supported by socioeconomic stability; local knowledge(s) and language(s); political representation; and ecological access, health, and sustainability. It involves the ability to rest, play, love, worship, and engage in other meaningful activities without fear. In turn, we recognize that mental distress and suffering are exacerbated by lineages of colonialism, imperialism, militarism, and neoliberalism, which perpetuate embodied and intergenerational trauma, dislocation, war, and political subjugation. We also acknowledge that oppression occurs at the intersections of class, citizenship status, religion, race, ethnicity, gender, sexuality, appearance, age, psychiatric diagnosis, and ability — and that this oppression, in turn, provokes mental distress. We affirm that all people should have access to medicines and culturally-relevant healing practices.

AMHIG draws our definition of mental health from scholarship in Indigenous Studies (Charlton 2020), Postcolonial Studies (Fanon 1967; Eromosele 2020; Robcis 2020), Medical Anthropology (Gammeltoft and Oosterhoff 2018), Psychological Anthropology (LeVine 2010), Psychiatric Anthropology (Good 1992; Reyes-Foster 2019), Critical Disabilities Studies (Ben-Moshe 2020), Critical Race Studies (Meerai et al. 2016), Mad Studies (Price 2011; LeFrancois et al. 2013), Queer Studies (Cvetkovich 2012), the Medical and Health Humanities (Nash 2018), Psychopolitics (Sedgwick 1982), the History of Medicine (Scull 1981; Grob 1994; Keller 2007), Feminist Histories and Theory (Showalter 1987), Gender Studies (Pinto 2014), Affect Theory (Gorman 2017; Fletcher and Barroso 2020), Critical Psychology (Hook 2011; Hunter 2018), Critical Psychiatry (Mills 2014; Middleton and Moncrieff 2019), Critical Suicidology (White et al. 2016), Ecopsychology (Bateson 1972, Kahn and Hasbach 2012), Cultural Studies (Hollan 2012), User/Survivor Research (Faulkner 2017), and other related fields. We also recognize the contributions of Indigenous Movements, Black and Third World Liberation Movements, Disability & Healing Justice Movements, Psychiatric User/Survivor Movements, Neurodiversity Movements, and other social justice and health social movements which have shaped political and scholarly discourse on mental health over the last several decades.

State of Mental Health in Anthropology

AMHIG affirms that the state of mental health in the field of Anthropology needs serious attention and transformation: Mental wellbeing is a collective issue, and we must first acknowledge the structural barriers to mental wellbeing and institutional demands that affect all members of anthropology departments, before we begin to address the needs of our most structurally-vulnerable anthropologists.

Barriers to Access to Care and Wellness

Given past and present ways that our discipline has favored certain forms of rationality and being over others, we recognize that graduate student anthropologists and other contingent faculty who come from oppressed and repressed communities — those often studied by anthropologists—face unique challenges navigating institutions that were not created for them. While most research to date has focused attention on graduate students, it is important to reiterate our stance that graduate student mental health is a bellwether for the mental health of others in academic

anthropology — including postdocs, adjuncts, non-tenured and tenure earning faculty. In the section that follows, we outline factors that contribute to poor mental health in anthropology departments, including labor issues, traumatic experiences during fieldwork, cultures of silence and stigma, and structural elitism within the profession.

Early studies suggest a crisis in graduate student mental health (Flaherty 2018a; Pain 2018). Graduate students are six times more likely than the general population to suffer from anxiety and depression (Flaherty 2018b). Pre-existing mental health issues are exacerbated or elicited by the stressful conditions of graduate school, which often fail to account for the needs of students outside the classroom, including cost of living, caregiving responsibilities, and the fact that many students leave their familial or social support systems to attend school. However, research has also found that graduate student mental health depends greatly on environmental conditions created by their departments and advisors, and in recent years a number of anthropology students have spoken out about the ways in which academic culture in anthropology departments has negatively impacted their mental health (González 2019; England 2016; Vieth 2018; Woolston 2017). In the last five years, more research on mental health in academia has begun to emerge, particularly in Europe and in bench research science departments. This research has uncovered serious mental health problems among Ph.D. students (Levecque et. al. 2017; Woolston 2018) and in academia in general (Loissel et. al. 2019).

These conditions also extend to others (Shaw & Ward 2014), such as adjunct faculty members (Harris 2019), lecturers, and other anthropologists navigating a precarious job market and a neoliberal model of university management (Price 2011); and a 2013 study of 14,000 academic employees in the UK revealed growing stress levels (Kinman and Wray 2013). For example, contingent faculty — including graduate students, adjunct professors, and lecturers — may experience burnout from overwork, unsustainably large undergraduate classes, a lack of time to provide their teaching assistants meaningful mentorship, and a lack of representation in faculty meetings and in Senate Faculty decision-making processes across campus. They may also fear that speaking out about their exploitative working conditions may result in their failure to receive additional contract work in the academic gig economy. In addition, many contingent faculty are uninsured and unable to seek mental health support, due to a lack of coverage and an inability to afford out-of-pocket mental health services. It is also important to acknowledge how mental suffering is differentially experienced among members of anthropology departments. For instance, emotional labor is often taken up by junior-level faculty (Carroll 2012; Sheyne 2017), women (Carroll 2012), especially women of color (Navarro et al. 2013), and graduate students, which also contributes to the pervasive invisibility and stigma still attached to needing help or feeling comfortable reaching out for emotional support and seeming "unprofessional" (Hovland 2012).

Cultural anthropology and archaeology are both characterized by an expectation of extended time in the field. Biological and linguistic anthropology sometimes require weeks or even months of off-campus work as well. Cultural anthropologists are expected to spend at least a full year conducting ethnographic fieldwork. At the same time that students are encouraged to pursue research projects "with stakes," engaging with difficult social problems, departmental structures do not adequately prepare them for the ways in which extended exposure to human suffering may impact their mental health (Cearns 2018; Levy 2015; Reyes-Foster and Lester 2019). This is

especially true for those who take on projects studying the aftermath of traumatic events, working with survivors of violence or disaster, and otherwise engaging in emotionally challenging research (Dickson-Smith et al. 2009).

In addition to potentially bearing witness to violence against others either directly or indirectly, fieldworkers may become victims of violence while in the field. Anthropologists returning from the field have reported experiencing physical and sexual violence from the populations they are attempting to work with (Johnson 2016; Kloß 2016; Williams 2017). Importantly, archaeologists and other team-based field anthropologists have also reported worrying rates of sexual harassment and assault from supervisors and colleagues (Clancy et al. 2014; Hanson & Richards 2019). These traumatic events have long-term impacts on mental health. These pressures are disproportionately experienced by populations made vulnerable by contemporary systems of oppression (Mehmood 2019), particularly members of communities most negatively impacted by early anthropological research such as Black and Indigenous people of color (BIPOC) (Todd 2018). The experiences of conducting fieldwork while Black (or Indigenous, or otherwise non-white) carry their own sets of challenges and risks (Berry et al. 2018; Carter 2019; Nyika 2018).

Nor should we forget the ways that our departments and disciplinary culture might contribute to stigma and silence around mental health issues. For example, graduate students may feel uncomfortable speaking openly with their advisors about their feelings of isolation, loneliness, stress and anxiety, or find the faculty members dismiss their concerns, normalizing trauma under the excuse that these are "a rite of passage," undermining the emotional veracity, and necessity, of their experience (Pollard 2009). Conversely, faculty may overreach by denying students opportunities to research mental health or other emotionally difficult topics after they have disclosed a mental health condition in a paternalistic attempt to "protect" them. Some students may fear being perceived as "weak" for reporting emotional difficulty as part of their fieldwork or research process (Pollard 2009; Smith 2009). Students may also fear that such disclosures could alter perceptions of their productivity and jeopardize the department's perception of their education as a worthwhile financial investment. Students might also be asked to channel their negative emotions into a dissertation or publication, without considering the lingering impacts of trauma or the privilege of self-care. These are experiences of ableism and sanism discrimination on the basis of mental status or ability — that affect all members of anthropology departments (Brown and Leigh 2018; LeBlanc and Kinsella 2016).

Lastly, the field of anthropology continues to struggle with elitism and exclusivity, and anthropologists reify such institutional elitism in their hiring practices. As Kawa and colleagues demonstrated, in US academic anthropology, a small group of graduate programs produce the majority of tenure and tenure-earning faculty in Ph.D.-granting programs (Kawa et.a. 2019). Students who are unable to attend these top programs are thus much less likely to secure employment as tenure-earning faculty in PhD-granting programs. This not only results in intellectual stymying, as the vast majority of graduates who become full-time scholars and researchers come from the same 2-3 programs; this academic nepotism actively contributes to a glut of Ph.D.-holders, denies job security to large numbers of graduating anthropologists, and contributes to racial and socioeconomic inequality in the discipline. At the same time, it reproduces and maintains the neoliberal academic model that allows a small number of tenure and tenure-earning faculty to thrive at the expense of graduate student instructors of record, TAs,

adjuncts, and other contingent faculty, who teach 75% of college classes today (New Faculty Majority). Thus, the current academic climate reinforces the hierarchy of research as a primary metric for tenure, diminishing the importance of teaching as a primary mission of the university.

Visions for Cultures of Wellness

Historically, our discipline has been complicit in colonial, imperial, and military projects and the exploitation of communities made vulnerable by them, which has perpetuated forms of epistemic and ontological violence that AMHIG seeks to address (Asad 1973; Pels and Salemink 1999). Presently, our discipline also benefits from elite institutional resources and the respectability politics of privileged academics, and it maintains and replicates such structural elitism in its pedagogy, scholarship, hiring practices, and in other professional tasks (Schmit 2001; Giroux 2007; Ginsberg 2011; Clauset et al. 2015; Kawa et al. 2019; Jobson 2020). Here, we aim to put forth a vision for a culture of wellness in anthropology, which acknowledges this toxic culture and centers efforts to decolonize the discipline and intellectual centers that sustain it (Harrison 1991; Price and Kerschbaum 2017). We seek to imagine how our discipline could be otherwise, via structural changes within and outside of academic institutions and purposeful moves towards more equitable and careful ways of producing knowledge, centering the strengths and needs of oppressed, poor communities, fostering convivial relationships in the nonhuman world, and practicing activist anthropology in collaboration with our interlocutors, communities, colleagues, and professional associations (Maskovsky and Piven 2020; Jobson 2020).

Given current inequities in academia, we particularly call on anthropologists who are also department chairs, deans, and university administrators to build the economic, political, and cultural infrastructure necessary to promote mental wellbeing. We also call on our colleagues in such positions of power to prevent stigma and harassment and to craft spaces in which Neurodiverse, Disabled, and Mad academic communities can flourish. We put forward this charge with the understanding that community members in anthropology departments have both shared needs for accessible, inclusive policies, as well as distinctive needs, concerns, and abilities to facilitate structural change.

Addressing the mental health needs of graduate student anthropologists and other precariously-employed anthropologists cannot be addressed without consideration and attention to the mental health needs and labor conditions of all workers on campus. We must strive to cultivate healthy work spaces for all university members and affiliates. This call can be accomplished by building access within institutional practice. To this end, we advocate for the implementation of Universal Design, which involves the creation of welcoming spaces for those engaged in scholarly endeavors, including faculty and students with mental health needs (Price and Kerschbaum 2017). Universal Design involves promoting inclusion, supporting accommodations, maintaining collegial relationships, and developing ethical approaches undergirded by the knowledge that productivity is not the only metric for academic success; it is based on the principles of equity, flexibility, simplicity, tolerance, perceptible information, low physical effort, and accessible spaces (Burgstahler 2015).

This approach acknowledges that mental health needs may change rapidly and over time and that by creating accessible spaces for those with known mental health needs, we can be proactive — rather than reactive — as we aim to foster mental wellbeing among all who choose not to

disclose their mental health status and for those who have emergent mental health needs (Burgstahler 2013; Tobin and Behling 2018). For example, the implementation of Universal Design may involve attention to issues such as inclusive design architecture and furniture, cultural sensitivity/appropriateness, social integration, and safe workplaces for people of all sizes and for people with sensory sensitivities. It also involves a deep consideration of policies related to hiring, performance review, and promotion of faculty with mental health needs and the admission, retention, mentorship, and support of undergraduate and graduate students, among other labor practices (VanPuymbrouck 2020; Dalton et al. 2018). By designing and implementing thoughtful accommodation infrastructures, universities can acknowledge the mental health needs of its constituents as sources of diversity, insight, and knowledge and to create accountability processes to foster cultures of access (Price and Kerschbaum 2017).

AMHIG Calls on Universities:

- To review salary inequities across campus and reduce the wage gap between graduate students, teaching faculty and upper-level administrators, senior faculty, senior staff, and athletics departments at universities.
 - This may involve systemic strategic planning that centers the needs of the most exploited university employees.
- To work across campus governance to develop universal design environments and to create policies for accommodations beyond coursework settings.
 - Examples of this may include:
 - Expanding mental health resources, such as remote support options, employing additional staff to reduce wait time, and setting affordable prices or free services for all healing modalities available on campus.
 - Clarifying and improving leave policies for all university employees.
 - Enabling accessible employment and hiring practices, by not penalizing "gaps" in CVs or resumes.
- To create cultures of wellness by promptly addressing all instances of abuse of campus members.
 - Examples of this may include:
 - Developing clear processes for conflict/abuse prevention and resolution and the education of all campus members about these policies.
 - Responding immediately and decisively to racism and other discrimination against all members of the campus community.
 - Clarifying Title IX and Title XI interpretations, developing transformative justice programs alongside these policies, and providing robust support for those who have experienced trauma.
- To pay graduate students and other contingent faculty a living wage.
 - This inherently involves a reduced reliance on contingent labor via the creation of permanent teaching positions.
- To address other dimensions of poverty faced by graduate students and other structurallyvulnerable anthropologists.
 - Examples of this may include
 - Food subsidies or on-campus food pantry programs
 - Housing subsidies on-campus and in surrounding areas

- Free or affordable childcare and eldercare for graduate students and all contingent faculty who act as primary caregivers.
- To provide financial assistance and make graduate school affordable.
 - Examples of this may include:
 - Making in-absentia tuition/fee costs accessible for students who are ABD.
 - Including payment of fees in tuition waivers/remission.
 - Providing major support for graduate students to attend conferences.
 - Offering adequate staff and resources to support graduate students' pursuit of outside funding opportunities.
 - Inviting graduate student participation in collaborative labs and grants.

AMHIG Calls on Departments of Anthropology:

- To restructure departmental policies based on Universal Design, in order to address all departmental members' mental health needs in supportive ways.
 - Examples of this may include:
 - Training graduate coordinators/program directors to recognize signs of mental distress, to have conversations with students about on-campus resources and departmental support available to them, and to respect students' autonomy to make decisions about their health for themselves.
 - Developing internal support networks, like peer advocacy groups and other forms of peer support, within departments.
- To create programming and curricula that will prepare students for the possible mental health and safety consequences of field research.
 - Examples of this may include:
 - Developing modules in methods courses, including community engagement strategies, such as community-based participatory research; project management; and conflict resolution.
 - Integrating psycho-social support into the design of courses and labs.
 - Hosting reflective discussions with faculty members or students who have recently returned from the field.

AMHIG Calls on SMA members:

- To recognize that our collective flourishing (faculty, graduate student, and undergraduate students) is contingent on each other's mental health and wellbeing.
- To model acceptance and inclusion in all areas of scholarly practice and intervene rapidly when our peers fail to do so.
- To promote Universal Design principles in our daily academic praxis including our research, pedagogy, service responsibilities, mentorship, advising, and activism.
- To design community-engaged research projects that compensate oppressed stakeholders and informants, when appropriate.
- To address gaps in knowledge about the structural causes of mental distress in higher education.

0	For example, a high priority area for research includes basic research on mental health indicators specific to anthropology departments, comparing across programs (Barreira et al. 2020).

Contact Information

Inquiries about this initiative should be directed to Erica Hua Fletcher, University of California, Los Angeles, Jane and Terry Semel Institute for Neuroscience and Human Behavior, 760 Westwood Plaza, Los Angeles, CA 90095 (efletcher@ucla.edu) and Beatriz Reyes-Foster, Department of Anthropology, University of Central Florida, 4000 Central Florida Blvd, Orlando, Florida 32816-1691 (beatriz.reyes-foster@ucf.edu).

- Emma Louise Backe, doctoral student, George Washington University
- Tory Brykalski, doctoral student, University of California, San Diego
- Erica Hua Fletcher, postdoctoral research fellow, University of California, Los Angeles
- Alex Fitzpatrick, doctoral student, University of Bradford
- Melinda González, doctoral student, Louisiana State University
- Shir Lerman, postdoctoral research fellow, University of Connecticut Health Center
- Beatriz Reyes-Foster, associate professor, University of Central Florida
- Rob Meeker, independent scholar
- Rachel P. Riendeau, applied anthropologist and former MA/PhD student
- Meagan Thies-Sauder, doctoral student, Illinois State University

References

Asad, Talal, ed. 1973. *Anthropology and the Colonial Encounter*. Atlantic Highlands, NJ: Humanities Press.

Barreira, Paul, Matthew Basilico, and Valentin Bolotnyy. 2020. "Graduate Student Mental Health: Lessons from American Economics Departments." Working Paper. https://scholar.harvard.edu/bolotnyy/publications/graduate-student-mental-health-lessons-american-economics-departments.

Bateson, Gregory. 1972. Steps to An Ecology of Mind. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Ben-Moshe, Liat. 2020. *Decarcerating Disability: Deinstitutionalization and Prison Abolition*. Minneapolis: University of Minnesota Press.

Berry, Maya J., Claudia Chávez Argüelles, Shanya Cordis, Sarah Imhoud, and Elizabeth Velásquez Estrada. 2018. "Toward a Fugitive Anthropology: Gender, Race and Violence in the Field." *Current Anthropology* 32 (4): 537-565.

Brown, Nicole and Jennifer Leigh. 2018. "Ableism in Academia: Where are the Disabled and Ill Academics?" *Disability & Society* 33(6): 985-989.

Burgstahler, Sheryl. 2013. "Introduction to Universal Design in Higher Education." *Universal Design in Higher Education: Promising Practices*, edited by Sheryl Burgstahler. Seattle: DO-IT, University of Washington. www.uw.edu/doit/UDHE-promisingpractices/preface.html.

Burgstahler, Sheryl. 2015. *Universal Design in Higher Education: From Principles to Practice*. Boston: Harvard Education Press.

Carroll, Katherine. 2012. "Infertile? The Emotional Labour of Sensitive and Feminist Research Methodologies." *Qualitative Research* 13(5): 546-561.

Carter, Chelsea. 2019. "'Homework': The Highs and Lows of Anthropology at Home." *Anthrodendum*. https://anthrodendum.org/2019/06/27/homework-the-highs-and-lows-of-anthropology-at-home/.

Cearns, Jennifer. 2018. "Competitive Hardship: Ethnographic Guilt and Early-Career Pressure to Conduct 'Authentic' Fieldwork." *The New Ethnographer*.

https://thenewethnographer.org/2018/04/22/competitive-hardship-ethnographic-guilt-and-early-career-pressure-to-conduct-authentic-fieldwork/.

Charlton, John E. 2020. "Indigenous and Western Understandings: Mental Health and Illness." In *Decolonizing Mental Health: Embracing Indigenous Multi-Dimensional Balance*, 45-68. Vernon, British Columbia: JCharlton Publishing Ltd.

Clancy, Kathryn B., Robin G. Nelson, Julian N. Rutherford, and Katie Hinde. 2019. "Survey of Academic Field Experiences (SAFE): Trainees Report Harassment and Assault." *PLoS ONE* 9: e102172. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0102172.

Clauset, Aaron, Samuel Arbesman, and Daniel Larremore. 2015. "Systemic Inequality and Hierarchy in Faculty Hiring Networks." *Science Advances* 1 (1): e1400005. DOI: 10.1126/sciadv.1400005.

Cvetkovich, Ann. 2012. *Depression: A Public Feeling*. Durham and London: Duke University Press.

Dalton, Elizabeth M., Marcia Lyner-Cleophas, Britt T. Ferguson, and Judith McKenzie. 2019. "Inclusion, Universal Design and Universal Design Learning in Higher Education: South Africa and the United States. *African Journal of Disability* 8: 519. DOI:10.4102/ajod.v8i0.519.

Dickson-Smith, Virginia, Erica L. James, Sandra Kippen, and Pranee Liamputtong. 2009. "Researching Sensitive Topics: Qualitative Research as Emotion Work." *Qualitative Research* 9(1): 61-79.

England, Marcia R. 2016. "Being Open in Academia: A Personal Narrative of Mental Illness and Disclosure." *The Canadian Geographer* 60 (2): 226-231.

Eromosele, Femi. 2020. "Frantz Fanon in the Time of Mad Studies." *World Futures*, 76 (3): 167-187. DOI: 10.1080/02604027.2020.1730737

Fanon, Frantz. 1967. *Black Skin, White Masks*. Translated Richard Philcox (2008). New York: Grove Press.

Faulkner, Alison. 2017. "Survivor Research and Mad Studies: The Role and Value of Experiential Knowledge in Mental Health Research, *Disability & Society* 32(4): 500-520. DOI: 10.1080/09687599.2017.1302320

Flaherty, Colleen. 2018a. "A Very Mixed Record on Grad Student Mental Health." *Inside Higher Ed.* https://www.insidehighered.com/news/2018/12/06/new-research-graduate-student-mental-well-being-says-departments-have-important.

Flaherty, Colleen. 2018b. "Mental Health Crisis for Grad Students." *Inside Higher Ed.* health-crisis.

Fletcher, Erica and Adriane Barroso. 2020. "It's a Much More Relaxed Atmosphere: Atmospheres of Recovery at a Peer Respite." *Emotion, Space and Society* 36, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.emospa.2020.100705.

Gammeltoft, Tine M. and Pauline Oosterhoff. 2018. "Introduction to Special Issue: Mental Health in Domestic Worlds." *Medical Anthropology* 37(7): 533-537. DOI: 10.1080/01459740.2018.1504216.

Ginsberg, Benjamin. 2011. *The Fall of the Faculty: The Rise of the All-Administrative University and Why It Matters*. Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Giroux, Henry A. 2007. The University in Chains: Confronting the Military-Industrial-Academic Complex. Paradigm Books.

González, Melissa. 2019. "Methods of Motherhood: The Borderlands of Scholarship, Motherhood, and Trauma." *Anthrodendum*. https://anthrodendum.org/2019/08/13/methods-of-motherhood-the-borderlands-of-scholarship-motherhood-and-trauma/.

Good, Byron. J. 1992. "Culture and Psychopathology: Directions for Psychiatric Anthropology." In *New Directions in Psychological Anthropology*, edited by Theodore Schwartz, Geoffrey M. White and Catherine A. Lutz, 181–205. Cambridge: Cambridge University Press.

Gorman, Rachel. 2017. "Quagmires of Affect: Madness, Labor, Whiteness, and Ideological Disavowal." *American Quarterly* 69(2): 309-313. DOI:10.1353/aq.2017.0025

Grob, Gerald. 1994. *The Mad among Us: A History of the Care of America's Mentally Ill*. New York: The Free Press.

Hanes, Amy and Holly Walters. "A Long Journey Home: Supporting Students in the Field." *MeToo Anthro*. https://metooanthro.org/resources/training-guides/

Hanson, Rebecca and Patricia Richards. 2019. *Harassed: Gender, Bodies, and Ethnographic Research*. Berkeley: University of California Press.

Harris, Adam. 2019. "The Death of an Adjunct." *The Atlantic*, April 8, 2019. https://www.theatlantic.com/education/archive/2019/04/adjunct-professors-higher-education-thea-hunter/586168/.

Harrison, Faye. 1991. *Decolonizing Anthropology: Moving Further Toward an Anthropology of Liberation*. Arlington, VA: American Anthropological Association.

Hollan, Douglas. 2012. "Emerging Issues in the Cross-Cultural Study of Empathy." *Emotion Review* 4(1):70-78.

Hook, Derek. 2011. A Critical Psychology of the Postcolonial: The Mind of Apartheid. Routledge: London & New York.

Hovland, Ingie. 2012. "Regulating Emotions and Aiming for a Ph.D.: Excerpts from *Anthropology Matters.*" *Learning and Teaching* 5(1): 69-90.

Hunter, Noel. 2018. *Trauma and Madness in Mental Health Services*. New York: Palgrave Macmillan.

Jobson, Ryan Cecil. 2020. "The Case for Letting Anthropology Burn: Sociocultural Anthropology in 2019." *American Anthropologist* 122(2): 259-271. DOI:10.1111/aman.13398

Johnson, Alix. 2016. "The Self At Stake." *Savage Minds*, March 16, 2016. https://savageminds.org/2016/03/16/the-self-at-stake-thinking-fieldwork-and-sexual-violence/.

Kahn, Peter H. and Patricia H. Hasbach. 2012. "Introduction to Ecopsychology: Science, Totems, and the Technological Species." In *Ecopsychology: Science, Totems, and the Technological Species*. Cambridge, MA: The MIT Press.

Kawa, Nicholas C., Jose A. Clavijo Michelangeli, Jessica L. Clark, Daniel Ginsberg, and Christopher McCarty. 2019. "The Social Network of US Academic Anthropology and Its Inequalities." *American Anthropologist* 121(1): 14–29. DOI: 10.1111/aman.13158

Keller, Richard. 2007. *Colonial Madness: Psychiatry in French North Africa*. Chicago: University of Chicago Press.

Kinman, Gail and Siobhan Wray. 2013. "Higher Stress: A Survey of Stress and Well-Being Among Staff in Higher Education." University and College Union, July 2013. https://www.ucu.org.uk/media/5911/Higher-stress-a-survey-of-stress-and-well-being-among-staff-in-higher-education-Jul-13/pdf/HE_stress_report_July_2013.pdf.

Kloß, Sinah Theres. 2016. "Sexual(ized) Harassment and Ethnographic Fieldwork: A Silenced Aspect of Social Research." *Ethnography* 18(3): 396-414.

Leblanc, Stephanie and Elizabeth A. Kinsella (2016). "Toward Epistemic Justice: A Critically Reflexive Examination of 'Sanism' and Implications for Knowledge Generation." *Studies in Social Justice* 10(1): 59-78.

LeFrancois, Brenda A., Robert Menzies, and Geoffrey Reaume. 2013. "Introducing Mad Matters." In *Mad Matters: A Critical Reader in Canadian Mad Studies*, edited by Brenda LeFrancois, Robert Menzies, and Geoffrey Reaume, 1-22. Toronto: Canadian Scholars' Press Inc.

Levecque, Katia, Frederick Anseel, Alain de Beucklaer, Johan Van der Heyden, and Lidia Gisle. 2017. "Work Organization and Mental Health Problems in PhD Students." *Research Policy* 46(4): 868-879.

Levine, Robert. 2010. "Introduction." In *Psychological Anthropology: A Reader on Self in Culture*, edited by Robert A. LeVine, 1-6. Malden, MA: Wiley-Blackwell.

Levy, Nadine. 2015. "Emotional Landscapes: Discomfort in the Field." *Qualitative Research Journal* 16(1): 39-50.

Loissel, Elsa. 2019. "Mental Health in Academia: How can the Scientific Community Support Researchers with Mental Health Issues?" *eLife*, October 23, 2019. https://elifesciences.org/collections/ad8125f3/mental-health-in-academia.

Maskovsky, Jeff and Frances Fox Piven. 2020. "We Need a Loud and Fractious Poor." *Antipode: A Radical Journal of Geography*, 52(2): 380-392.

Meerai, Sonia, Idil Abdillahi, and Jennifer Poole. 2016. An Introduction to Anti-Black Sanism. *Intersectionalities: A Global Journal Of Social Work Analysis, Research, Polity, And Practice*, 5(3): 18–35. https://journals.library.mun.ca/ojs/index.php/IJ/article/view/1682.

Mehmood, Saira. 2019. "The Challenges of Conducting Fieldwork in a Place You Call Home." Anthrodendum, August 17, 2019. https://anthrodendum.org/2019/08/17/the-challenges-ofconducting-fieldwork-in-a-place-you-call-home/

Middleton, Hugh and Joanna Moncrieff. 2019. "Critical Psychiatry: a Brief Overview." BJPsych Advances 25(1): 47–54. DOI: 10.1192/bja.2018.38.

Mills, China. 2014. Decolonizing Global Mental Health: The Psychiatrization of the Majority World. London: Routledge.

Nash, Woods, ed. 2018. "Introduction: Imagining Contexts for Mental Illness." Journal for Medical Humanities 39 (1): 1-2.

Navarro, Tami, Bianca Williams, and Attiya Ahmad. 2013. "Sitting at the Kitchen Table: Fieldnotes from Women of Color in Anthropology." Cultural Anthropology 28 (3): 443–463.

New Faculty Majority. n.d. "Facts About Adjuncts." https://www.newfacultymajority.info/factsabout-adjuncts/, accessed on June 20, 2020.

Nyika, Lawrence. 2018. "The Challenging and Empowering Elements of Doctoral Data Collection." The Qualitative Report 23 (9): 2143-2150.

Pain, Elizabeth. 2018. "Graduate Students Need More Mental Health Support, New Study Highlights." Science, March 6, 2018. https://www.sciencemag.org/careers/2018/03/graduatestudents-need-more-mental-health-support-new-study-highlights.

Pels, Peter and Oscar Salemink. 1999. Colonial Subjects: Essays on the Practical History of Anthropology, edited by Peter Pels and Oscar Salemink. Ann Arbor: University of Michigan Press.

Pinto, Sarah. 2014. Women and Madness in Contemporary India. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Pollard, Amy. 2009. "Field of Screams: Difficulty and Ethnographic Work." Anthropology Matters 11(2): 1-24. DOI: https://doi.org/10.22582/am.v11i2.10

Price, Margaret. 2011. Mad at School: Rhetorics of Mental Disability and Academic Life. Ann Arbor, MI: The University of Michigan Press.

Price, Margaret and Stephanie L. Kerschbaum. 2017. Promoting Supportive Academic Environments for Faculty with Mental Illness: Resource Guide and Suggestions for Practice. Temple University Collaborative, January 2017. http://tucollaborative.org/wpcontent/uploads/2017/05/Faculty-with-Mental-Illness.pdf.

Reyes-Foster, Beatriz. 2019. Psychiatric Encounters: Madness and Modernity in Yucatan, Mexico. New Brunswick, NJ: Rutgers University Press.

Reyes-Foster, Beatriz and Rebecca Lester. 2019. "Trauma and Resilience in Ethnographic Fieldwork." Anthrodendum, June 18, 2016. https://anthrodendum.org/2019/06/18/trauma-andresilience-in-ethnographic-fieldwork/.

Robcis, Camille. 2020. Frantz Fanon, Institutional Psychotherapy, and the Decolonization of Psychiatry. Journal of the History of Ideas 81 (2): 303-325.

Scull, Andrew. 1981. Madhouses, Mad-Doctors, and Madmen: The Social History of Psychiatry in the Victorian Era, edited by Andrew Scull. Philadelphia: University of Pennsylvania Press.

Schmidt, Jeff. 2001. Disciplined Minds: A Critical Look at Salaried Professionals and the Soulbattering System that Shapes Their Lives. Lanham, MD: Rowman & Littlefield.

Shayne, Julia. 2017. "Recognizing Emotional Labor in Academe." *Inside Higher Ed*, September 15, 2017. https://www.insidehighered.com/advice/2017/09/15/ifmportance-recognizing-facultytheir-emotional-support-students-essay.

Shaw, Claire and Lucy Ward. 2014. "Dark Thoughts: Why Mental Illness Is on the Rise in Academia." The Guardian, March 6, 2014. https://www.theguardian.com/higher-educationnetwork/2014/mar/06/mental-health-academics-growing-problem-pressure-university.

Showalter, Elaine. 1987. The Female Malady: Women, Madness and English Culture, 1830-1980. London: Virago.

Smith, Katherine L. 2009. "Is a Happy Anthropologist a Good Anthropologist?" Anthropology *Matters* 11(1): 1-11.

http://citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.961.7135&rep=rep1&type=pdf.

Tobin, Thomas J. and Kristen T. Behling. 2018. Reach Everyone, Teach Everyone: Universal Design Learning in Higher Education. Morgantown: West Virginia University Press.

Todd, Zoe. 2018. "The Decolonial Turn 2.0: the Reckoning." anthrodendum, June 15, 2018. https://anthrodendum.org/2018/06/15/the-decolonial-turn-2-0-the-reckoning/

UDL On Campus: Universal Design for Learning in Higher Education. CAST. http://udloncampus.cast.org/home

VanPuymbrouck, Laura. 2020. "Practice What We Teach: Higher Ed Needs Universal Design for All." Thrive Global, March 24, 2020. https://thriveglobal.com/stories/practice-what-weteach-higher-ed-needs-universal-design-for-all-students/

Vieth, Rine. 2019. "Dis/ability to do Fieldwork." The New Ethnographer, October 4, 2018. https://www.thenewethnographer.org/the-new-ethnographer/2018/10/04/dis-ability-to-dofieldwork.

White, Jennifer, Ian Marsh, Michael J. Kral, and Johnathan Morris. 2016. *Critical Suicidology: Transforming Suicide Research and Prevention for the 21st Century*, edited by Jennifer White, Ian Marsh, Michael J. Kral, and Johnathan Morris.. Vancouver, Canada: University of British Columbia Press.

Williams, Bianca C. 2017. "#MeToo: A Crescendo in the Discourse about Sexual Harassment, Fieldwork and the Academy." *Savage Minds*, October 24, 2017. https://savageminds.org/2017/10/24/metoo-a-crescendo-in-the-discourse-about-sexual-harassment-fieldwork-and-the-academy-part-1/

Woolston, Chris. 2017. "Graduate Survey: A Love–Hurt Relationship." *Nature* 550: 549-552. https://www.nature.com/articles/nj7677-549a.

Woolston, Chris. 2018. "Feeling Overwhelmed by Academia? You are not Alone." *Nature* 557: 129-131. https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-018-04998-1.